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COMMENTARY ON RAtLROADING AND RAILFANNING 

FerrocorrU del Pacifico Alco RSD-12 507 and FA '904 lead the Mexico/I at Benjamin Hill, Sonora, 
on August 8, 1970. J.J. BUCKlEY PHOTO, LLOYD TRANSPORTATION LIBRARY 

Mexkan Alcos. and More 
THE RAIU\AYS OF ' E-"- co are fascina ,ing 
to me. At one level, they are er famil­
iar, for they often have a shared history 
with railroading north of the border. In 
fac se eral earl main lines were laid 
north- ou h, sometime because they 
were financed b American inve rs 
hoping to extend heir reach into ilexico, 
and sometimes because exican in e -
tors ( and occasionall he ta , e) hoped to 
benefi from northern ti·ade. 

One of the more famou examples 
of this is Denver & Rio Grande. That 
econd place name the river that divides 

the U.S. from is ou ,hern neighbor 
Vi as included b the company in es­
tors because their original goal -as to 
link Colorado s large metropolis ith 
Mexico City. There ai·e, ho"\.,.,.e e1· everal 
more ob cure example . Few no re,call 
tha ,he ou herrunost terminus of 

outhern Pacific wa not San Diego or 
Houston or Brownsville but Guadalaja­
ra, a thou and. miles into Mexico. And did 

ou know tha the ffrs Vii es e1·n terminus 
of the migh, y Atchison, Topeka & Santa 
Fe wa es ablished, in he eai·ly 1880 , 
no in Los Angeles 01, San Franci co, 
bu in Guaymas in he exican state of 

onora? Or tha until 19'71 it v-a possi­
ble to ride a through sleeper on Missouri 
Pacific from St. Louis to Mexico City? 

uch of Mexico s rail wa equipmen 
i likewise shared including a penchant 
for the die el products of Ame1·ican 
Locomoti e Company. acionales de 
Mexico, Ferrocarril del Pacifico and 
o hers rostered everything from end-cab 
swi • chers to big six-axle freight mo r 
and after Alco hu down U .. construc­
tion, , e:xico ·ailroads I urned to Alco 
Canadian licen ee Montreal Locomo­
ti e v orks, fo1· additional units .. ,, ell 
into he 1970s, it ,; ~as possible to see big, 
new, Alco-po ered engine outh of the 
borde1· alongside the man fo1mer ..S. 
units living heir second li es. 

Some of the best-known examples 
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ai·e • he econdhand purchases of uni 
discarded by American railroads after 
Alco closed in 1969. Consider the case of 
the PA-1 a rakishly tyled pa senger unit 
of the late 1940s. Examples urvive ;oda 
because FCP pm·chased four ex-Santa Fe 
unit from Delaware & Hudson in 1978. 
Today, two remain in Mexico -bile wo 
ai·e now back in . he U.S., • h one being 
1·e tored to operating condition b Dela­
ware-Lackawanna in Sc1·anton Pa. 

And it's no only Alcos tha went outh. 
Perhaps the most intere ting U.S. equip­
men to cros the border was t~o H-16-44 
models from Fairbanks-Mor e. Sold to 
Bo ques de hihuahua - a Mexican 
logging raifroad - one uni was from he 
mid- l 950s while he other as buil. m 
1961, long after F-M had effec i ely gi en 
up on he U S. railv-ay mai·ke 

Along: ide such famous examples of 
the e add in scores - if not hundreds 
- of heavyweight Pullman and stream­
lined Budd-built sleepers and coaches 
and in more recent ears even second­
hand Am.fleet equipmen . 

Yet there is also a spark of • he unusual 
in Mexico railwa equipmen ,. Since at 
least he 1960s the coun cy railways 
ha e prefer1·ed bold ' 1pe1·gi·aphic paint 
chemes or liveries ha turn a way from 

tradi ional 'railroad combinations. 
Thinking outside of the box also e · ends 
to equipment choice . Along ide orth 
American locomoti e and cars Mexican 
railways also made use of diesel rail­
car buil b I aly Fia and the U.K.'s 
Metro Camel. Pa· senger consists, la • e in 
the last centm mixed econdhand U.S.­
buil equipmen with head-end cars from 
Swi zerland and coaches built in Japan. 

Whe her in the pages of books and 
magazines, 01~ in pe1· on here s. much , o 
railfan if ;ve oak south .. □ 

Alexander Benjamin Craghead is a 
transportation historian,, photographer, 
artist and author. 



A MEXICAN RETROSPECTIVE 1944-1981 

ALCDS MEXICANO 
GORDON LLOYD JR . / PH OTOS FROM THE LLOYD TRANSPORTAT ION LIBRARY ( LT L) 

PERHAPS TOO OFTEN OVERLOOKED, Mex­
ico was a melting p ot for American 
Locomotive Company (Alco) and 

subsidiary Montreal Locomotive \Vorks 
(ML W) products long after their Ameri­
can and Canadian amigos were retired. I 
use the word "perhaps" as a qualifier, for 
sadly, while those locomotives may not 
have drawn t he attention they rightfully 
deserved, fortunately, neither were t hey 
ignored by the adventw-ous. 

Point in fact - Mexican Alcos and 
ML \Vs were plentiful and frequently en­
joyed a longer productive life than their 
American cousins. Nacionales de Mexi­
co (NdeM} was the dominant player, but 
Alcos were p opular on the smaller, re­
gional properties as well - Fe1Tocarril 
de] Pacifico (FCP), Ferrocarril Chihua­
hua al Padfico (CHP), Ferroccaril Sono­
ra-Baja California (SBC), and Ferrocan-il 
del SlU'este (FdelS , later Ferrocarriles 
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Unidos del Sureste, or FUS). Mexican 
short lines were few, but industrial prop­
erties benefited from the internal com­
bustion motive power. 

The Dieselization of NdeM 
The NdeM clieselization saga began in 

1944, though its foray was not the fll'st 
Mexican diesel locomotive purchase. 
(That honor apparently goes to two off­
center-cab 68-ton locomotives built by 
Gene1·al Electric in 1939 for Secr etaria 
de Communicaciones y Obras PU.blicas 
[SCO P ]). A late war time acquisition, 
10 Alco S-2s introduced themselves to 
NdeM in 1944, numbered 5500-5509, 
t h eir buil der' s plates displaying an 
August date. In short order, five S -ls 
appeared , too; they were the only plll'­
chased-new S -ls in Mexico, numbered 
5000-5004 with a builder's date of Sep­
tember. Thirteen additional NdeM S-2s 

arrived in 1950, closing out such NdeM 
pm·chases; these S-2s wer e 5510-5522. 
Noteworthy, of more than 1,400 S-2s, 
NdeM 5522 was the final S-2 built. 

In 1946, NdeM became the only non­
U.S. government buyer of the RSD-1, 
while simultaneously bringing the road 
switcher concept to the railroad in one 
of its eai·liest forms. Built between Jan­
uary and May 1946 under order number 
S3008, six were delivered as NdeM 5600-
5605; they were renmnbe1·ed 5700--{)705, 
numbers which they wore for m ost of 
their lives. [n concert with maintenance 
practices of the time, all were rebuilt in­
kind by Alco in 1956, at their Schenec­
tady, N.Y. , birthplace, which extended 
their lives into the 1970s. These were C-C 
locomotives, with six traction motors. 

Far m or e RS-ls were carried on the 
NdeM r oster than their cousins, the 
RSD-ls. In reality, when it came to the 

RS-1, fe,v raili·oads were in a league with 
NdeM. In all, 64 RS-ls were found on 
the roster , occupying the number series 
5600- 5663. When reviewing this huge 
group, keep a roster close at hand. There 
were renumberings, RS -ls with both 
Alco and MLW origins (NdeM 5619-
5621 were the only MLW RS-1 produc­
tion), some with multiple-unit capability, 
some with a steam generator , and the 
la st groups arrived with the final car­
body style of hood, which has come to be 
known as the "feather-edge" lip. As did 

M22 for the S-2s, deM RS-1 5663 took 
the honors for the last production RS-1 
built. 

NdeM's RS-1 buying spree spanned a 
full decade, with deliveries beginning in 
February 1950 and ei,.-tending into 1960, 
fully two years beyond the last American 
sale of RS-ls, which were Grand Trunk 
Western units 1950 and 1951. NdeM's 
RS -ls found themselves in all types of 
service - switching in yard s, on local 
freight and mixed trains, or with passen­
ger assignments. So dominant was the 

OPPOSITE: NdeM 's distinctive green, red, ond 
yellow looks good on a 1957-bullt RS-1 at the 
shop foclllty In Volle Yard on Morch 2, 1974. 
The 5645 featured oddltlonol versatility due 
to Its m.u. option. MATTHEW J. HERSON JR. •LLOYD 
TRANSPORTATION LI BRARY 

ABOVE: In the city of Durango, 5001 displays o 
remarkably original oppeoronce nearly 30 years 
oher Its orrlvol. Despite o complete overhaul 
by Alco ot Schenectady, N.Y., the little 660-hp 
switcher st ill locks on extended exhaust stock In 
this January 3, 1974, view. PAUL HUNNa.L-Ln 

ABOVE LEFT: NdeM's f irst diesels were 10 Alco 
5-2s delivered In 1944. Those orlglnal S-2s 
locked an exhaust stock, o common practice ot 
the t ime, but by the t ime 5522 was built, the 
exhaust stock was standard. NdeM 5522 was 
the very lost 5-2 built, seen at Torre6n, Coohullo, 
on January 2, 1974. PAUL HUHMru.-Ln 

LEFT: Most R5D-1 units worked for t he U.S. 
Army. The exceptions were six for NdeM, 
numbered 5700- 5705. They differed from 
mllitary versions with a standard cob. At Saltillo, 
Coohuila, on December 1, 1967, 5704 tolls In 
black point; all were built with m.u. 
KEN NETH L DOUGU.S-Ln 

BELOW LEFT: All NdeM RS-1 s were classed as 
DE-6, regardless of steam generator or m.u. 
equipment- or lack thereof. The application of 
roller bearings enhanced thei r oblllty to operate 
In rood service. NdeM 5638 was the lost In It s 
group of four, with delivery start ing In January 
1957. At Saltillo, 1,000 horses ore summoned 
to shuffle freight In November 1967. 
KENNETH L DOUGU.S-Ln 

RS-1 that competition from EMD's GP7 
and GP9 units of the same era generated 
sales of only t wo and 10, respectively. As 
en visioned by Alco, the RS-l s were truly 
the maid of all work. 

N deM also r ep owered several RS ­
ls, u sing both 12-567C EMD en gines 
and Alco 6-25 10 engines. Many worked 
into the 1980s, and at least one, 251 -re­
powered 5654, was adorned in the final 
two-tone blue and red of NdeM. In spite 
of their popularity with NdeM, no other 
Mexican property plll'chased new RS-ls. 
In a note of irony, that final RS-1 was r e­
powered by NdeM with an EMD engine. 

Government Assistance 
To assist fledgling Mexican proper­

hes in acquiring assets, the government 
agency SCOP stood in for many loco­
motive acquisitions. In our Alco diesel 
review, the first of many such procure­
ments involved folU' FA-ls, ultimately 
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for Ferrocarril del Sw·este. They arrived 
with five -digit numbers, 23031- 23034 , 
but were renumbered with an equally 
cumbersome group-and-unit system , as 
7121-1 through 7121-4. When Sureste 
numbers were applied, initially they 
wore 211-214, and later, 201-204. Ulti­
mately, they came under control of FUS 
as 201-204. 

A fifth F A-1 came to Mexico, again via 
SCOP. In April 1950, 23039 arrived. It 
was renumbered as 7121 -5; on CHP it 
was known as its 500, but moved on to 
join sim.ilai· cousins on FUS, and was 
assigned number 30t5. This rounded out 
Mexican FA-1 history; there were no 
FB-ls. 

By November 1950, FPA-2s 6500-6501 
were added to the ever-increasing NdeM 
diesel roster. The nod to Alco for these 
passenger-capable units came after FP7s 
6329A- 6334A. After 17 years, both were 
sold for continued service, 6500 to Fer­
rocaiTiles Unidos de Yucatan and 6501 
to FUS. 

For NdeM, the Alco FPA-2 and FPB-
2 played a significant role. FPA-2s out­
numbered the EMD competitor FP7 by 
two, but NdeM found va1ue in the more 
traditional F A-2 as well (NdeM's greatest 
EMD cab-unit stronghold was 25 FP9s). 

RIGHT TOP: Jim Buckley was an early traveler 
to Mexico and Central America. Ferrocarrll 
del Sureste FA-2 7121 -10 harkens to original 
acquisition by Secretarla de Communlcaclones 
y Obras Publlcas In 1952, but It later wore FUS 
numbers 220 and 310. This view was captured 
In M Crlda, Yucatan, on July 14, 1963. 
J.J. BUCKLEY-Ln 

RIGHT MIDDLE: In the city of Aplzaco, Tlaxcala, 
NdeM FA-2 6516A powers a t raditional mixed 
train on February 28, 1974. By this late dote, 
members of the FA population were dwlndllng. 
The sign on the water tonk honors 100 years of 
Ferrocorrll Mexicano. MATTHEW J. HERSON, JR.-Ln 

RIGHT BOTTOM: FdelS operated 14 Alco 
cob units, a mix of FA-1, FPA-2, and FA-2 
locomot ives. FUS FA-2 313 was the newest of 
the fleet. Two former NdeM FPA-2 units ore 
Included In the total of 14 units. FUS 313 was 
captured at Compeche on January 11, 1974. 
PAUL HUNNEU-Ln 

BELOW: NdeM FPB-2 6502B Is the fi rst of 11 
slmllar units (six were bullt by MLW). Note 
the covered vent on what would be the front 
end. Sixteen-year-old 6S02B was comfortable 
hauling passengers or freight, os seen In Saltillo, 
the capitol of Coohullo, on November 11 , 1967. 
NdeM owned 34 FB-2 and FPB-2 units. 
KENNETH L DOUGLAS·LTL 
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Both FA-2/FPA-2 and FB-2/FPB-2 varia­
tions were fotmd on the roster; the A-unit 
contingent outnumbered the ca.bless ver­
sion by two, with a total of 36. Just a bit 
of number compai·ison is applicable here 
- NdeM featUl'ed 128 EMD covered wag­
ons ranging from eai·ly F2s to the late 
FP9; Alco made a sizable contribution 
with 70 units overall. 

Late in 1952, SCOP began to receive 
the first of si.x F A-2s, assigned numbers 
7121-8 through 7121-13. As a group, 
they saw several renumberings, first as 
Ferrocarril Unidos de! Sureste 218-223 
and later a• FUS 308- 313. Certainly, 
due to their location, these were some 
of the least-photographed FAs in North 
America. 

FCP signed on for four FPA-2 unito, 
intended for dual freight and passenger 
duties. Deliveries commenced in May 
1954. FCP 901-904 spent their entire 
lives on the FCP roster, with nary a n ota­
tion except that 903 lingered long enough 
to be renumbered to 905 to avoid a con­
flict with CHP C-628s 901- 904 when the 
raih·oads were renumbered ·with deM 
assignm.ents. 

Rood Switchers Heod South 
With an eye on the advancing Alco cat­

alog, 15 S-4s were delivered to Mexican 
propertieo between 1951 and 1961. The 
first of this model was number 111 for 
steel manufacturer Altos Hornos de Mex­
ico (AHMSA), with a plate date of April 
1951. Three months later, eight for NdeM 
were delivered {nw:nbers 5523- 5530) and 

two for Marina N acional. Ultimately, the 
two Marina Nacional units, 101 and 102, 
were conveyed to CHP and renumbered 
as 201 and 202. Across 10 years, AHMSA 
took delivery of a total of five S-4s, num­
bers 111, 115, 117, 118, and 121. 

Built-new Alco 244-engined road 
switchers took just two forms in Me:xico 
- RS-3o and RSD-5s. After44 NdeM FA/ 
FB-2 or FPA/FPB-2 units, four RS-3s ar­
rived in July 1952, nmnbers 6700- 6703. 
They left the Alco plant amidst RS-3s 
being built for Reading; Pennsylvania; 
Erie; Gulf, Mobile & Ohio; Inland Water­
ways; and two distinct orders for Chicago 
& North \Vestern and subsidiary Chica­
go, St. Paul, Minneapolis & Omaha. 

It is notable that the RS-3s did not 
stem the flow of NdeM RS-ls. After the 
delivery of 6700-6703, 45 additional 
RS-ls were added to the roster, the first 
group (5619--;'5621) being the previously 
mentioned contribution from MLW. 

For NdeM, the next 244-powered road 
switchers arrived more than three years 
after those first RS-3s. These sure-footed 
units were numbered 6900- 6901 , hoth 
RSD-5s. Although they featured m.u. , 
they remained orphans on a roster that 
had many orphans, as though each order 
was little more than a test drive. 

Although the RS-3s seemingly sparked 
little interest, NdeM continued to acquire 

LEFT: The S-4s were delivered with roller 
bearings, but without m.u., like S52S seen In 
January 1974. There were only eight S-4s, three 
more thon the S-1 fleet, but 15 fewer than the 
S-2s. PAUL HUNNELL-LTL 

LEFT MIDDLE: Ferrocorrll del Podflco hod 27 
RSD-Ss on It s roster before 6900 and 6901 
arrived for NdeM. FCP continued to purchase 
the burly units; NdeM stopped ofter Its two-unit 
order. NdeM 6901 Is ot Fronterro, Coohullo, on 
Morch 6, 1974. MATTHEW J. HERSON JR.-Ln 

LEFT BOTTOM: Viewed from the rear, RS-3 
6700 flaunts Its seldom-used dynamic broke 
option in the short hood. From NdeM's first (of 
two) order for RS-3s, 6700 was at Volle Yard on 
April 2, 1971. Although more modern, NdeM 
continued to order RS- ls long after the RS-3 
was being delivered. GORDON LLOYD JR.-Ln 

new FA/FB-2 and FPA/FPB-2s for road 
assignments. Finally, nearly six months 
after the two-unit RSD -5 acquisition, 
three additional RS-3s arrived, numbers 
6704-6706. With little fanfare , they sol­
diered on throughout the 1950s, 1960s, 
and into the 1970s. A respectable career 
was achieved, but recognition was hard 
to document. 

In 1951, Southern Pacific de Mexico 
was sold. Private assets were transferred 
to a government entity, and FCP was 
formed. At the time, the railroad was en­
tirely powered by steam locomotives not 
recalled by parent Southern Pacific. In 
l 9t53, that situation was about to change 
in an unmistakable fashion. 

For FCP, the RSD-5 seemed to offer 
potential which NdeM could never find. 
Beginning in November 1953, several 
groups of RSD -5s began a southward 
trek from Schenectady in eastern New 
York to the relatively arid climate of 
northwestern Mexico and onto the rails 
of FCP. The first group, 10 in total , was 
nmnbered 801-810. These were the first 
diesels on the FCP and the beginning of 
a solid relationship ,vith Alco, which ex­
tended into the ML W and Bombardier 
eras. One can seldom find loyalty with 
that sincerity. 

In short order, Alco graduated three 
additional RSD-5s in December 1953. In 
August 1954, 14 additional RSD-5s, FCP 
8 14-827, headed for warmer tempera­
tmes. In common with all the FCP RSD-
5s, dynamic brakes, located in the short 
hood of course, were included. The FCP 
RSD -5 roster concluded ,vith eight final 
units in January 1956, its 828-835; 835 
was the final RSD-5 built. 

It was an impressive collection, with 
35 in total. In comparison, only Santa Fe, 
with 53, and the Southern Pacific system 
(including Texas & New Orleans and St. 
Louis Southwestern) with 63 RSD-5s, 
bested first -ti.me diesel buyer FCP in the 
RSD-5 department. In all, they offered 
56,000 horses to the new diesel roster. 

eA'i up wast.he Alco S -6 providing 900 
horses from si.x cylinders. Though not the 
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ABOVE: The first dlesels on FCP were RSD-5s, 
with 35 purchased In Just over two years. Crisp 
cream and green point Is displayed on 828 on 
February 12, 1965, at Hermosillo, Sonora . The 
entire fleet was equipped with m.u. and dynamic 
brakes, and they were the only diesels untll S-6 
deliveries started In 1955. 
MATTHEW J, HERSON JR.-Ln 

RIGHT: FCP dleselized late, but mode up for 
that quickly with multiple orders for the 900-hp 
S-6, powered by Alco's six-cylinder 251 B engine . 
In all, 24 units graced the roster, though several 
moved on to secondary owners. At Cullocon, 
Slnoloo, 715 switches cars on Morch 15, 1975. 
BOB WILT•Ln 

BELOW RIGHT: With the exception of NdeM, 
the S-6 was o relatively popular model In 
Mexico. Orlglnolly acquired through SCOP, FUS 
103 was In the lost group delivered for Mexico. 
FUS hod the second-largest S-6 fleet, behind 
FCP. At Empolme, Sonora, FUS 103 posed for o 
photo on January 10, 1983. J.J. BUCKLEY-Ln 

BOTTOM RIGHT: Hand-me-down Ferrocorrll 
Chihuahua al Pacifico 102 was orlglnolly FCP 
702. The 102 was later moved to FCS, then 
was Included on the FUS roster. It Is at Los 
Mochls, Slnoloo, on April 28, 1971, but Is al so 
Included elsewhere In this review as FUS 111 . 
JOE M.CMILLUHn 

fu·st in orth America, FCP first tested 
the water in Mexico in June 1955. Initial­
ly, eight units embellished the FCP Alco 
roster. Numbered 701-708, their intent 
was clouded by m. u. and train-indicator 
boxes. Although the S-6 was a switcher, 
FCP saw that it was equipped for more 
than just yard work. Before year's end, 
FCP added 16 more units, and the roster 
stretched to road number 724. FCP's S -6 
fleet size was second only to SP's 70-unit 
assemblage. 

But others in Mexico had need, too. 
\Vith barely two years of service, 701-703 
were slupped to CHP in 1957, becoming 
101- 103, then to FdelS and FUS. Sadly, 
S-6 711 never saw its first birthday be­
fore being ,vi·ecked. After rebuilding, it 
assumed road number 725, permanently 
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vacating number 711 . Others, including 
714 and 716, went on to work for CHP, 
Fde!S, and FUS. 

Nine additional S-6 locomotives found 
a home in Mexico as well, but no more for 
FCP. CHP took one for its own, its num­
ber 60. Eventually it was renumbered to 
106, but was then shuffled off to FdelS; 
the well-traveled unit filled out its career 
as FUS 100. Again, NdeM did not share 
much interest in the S -6, but did sample 
one, known simply as 5300 on the roster. 

SCOP 7133-1 and 7133-2 emerged from 
Schenectady in October 1956. The first 
was soon renumbered as Sureste's 331, 
then 101, then FUS 101, but in a complex 
roster of 10 FUS S-6s, it ultimately came 
to be renumbered 109:2 (2nd). The other, 
7133-2, followed a similar path, fll'st Sur­
este 332, then 102, and becoming FUS 
102 before ultimately accepting its final 
number, FUS 110:2. 

A single-unit S-6 addition, Ferrocarriles 

Unidos de Yucatan came numbered 301. 
Obvious ly intended to work with others, 
it was equipped with m.u. , a far-sighted 
choice. It later became FUS 106, and was 
assigned NdeM 5303 in the later, larger, 
general r enumbering. The final SCOP 
S-6 in Mexico came in November 1960 as 
7133-3. It became Sureste 333, then was 
renumbered 103. Ult imately, it became 
FUS 103. 

Laredo, was the destiny for three Alco 
graduates in 1958, 1959, and 1960, with 
Cia Funclidora de Fien·o y Acero, num­
bers 1-3. There is little documented 
history associated with t hese three S-6 
units to fall back upon. They are among 
the ve1-y la.st S-6s built; number 3 (Alco 
bin 82308) bore a December 1960 build. 
er's date. 

The RS- 11 s Arrive 
With RS-1 acquisitions still ongoing 

for NdeM, the RS-11 was introduced to 
Mexico. The first came in October 1956 
for SCOP, as its 7123-1 through 7123-3. 
They eventually became SBC 2301-2303. 
A fotuih unit, 7123-4, was equipped with 
a steam generator. All had high short 
hoods; 7123-4 became SBC 2103. 

deM took five RS-lls in December 
1956, its 7200-7204. They were equipped 
with high short hoods. It was nearly a 
year until the neA't RS-11 ventured into 
Mexico, this time for FCP. It, too, modeled 
a high short hood and steam generator , 
plus dynamic brakes, and wore number 
1501; in time it was renumbered 501. 

Ju April 1958, the trickle of RS-lls 
becam e far more noticeable wh en 13 
arrived, all for NdeM, nwnbered 7205-
7217. It was the beginning of a love affair 

LEFT TOP: NdeM RS-lls 7205-7217 were 
dellvered with steam generators tucked under 
o high short hood, the telltale cover visible on 
7205 In Pueblo on Morch 1, 198S. There was 
no difference between passenger and freight 
RS-lls; all were equipped with 74:18 gearing. 
JAM.ES C. HEROU)..Ln 

LEFT MIDDLE: NdeM RS-11 7252 rests In 
flltered sun in Nuevo Loredo, Tomoullpos, on 
April 20, 1976. The RS-11 s outnumbered any 
other NdeM Alco/MLW model on the roster. 

LEFT BOTTOM: Built In 1960, NdeM RSD-12 
7411 was one of 19 units equipped with o steam 
generator. It oversees a mixed train at Saltillo In 
196 7, ICENNETI1 L, OOUGLAS•Ln 

BELOW: FUS RS-11 402 displays Its fourth 
number since delivery in October 1956 with 
SCOP number 7123-2 . In the Interim, the 
locomotive passed through Ferroccorll Sonoro­
BoJo California and FdelS ownership. On 
February 26, 197S, FUS 402 hos been pressed 
Into passenger service at Rueda. 
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that would make the RS-1 contingent 
(which continued to a.tTive) blush. These 
featured a high sh ort hood too, but with 
a steam generator. 

In April 1961, a single NdeM RS-11 ar­
rived. NdeM 7218 was different from its 
predecessors and displayed an atti·active 
low short hood. With its arrival, NdeM 
RS-11 deliveries took a two-year hiatus. 

By the time NdeM determined that 
the RS-11 was its next "do-all" locomo­
tive, Alco had ceased production of the 
1,800-hp machine. But MLW stood in to 
capably fill the void the Alco production 
line created. From June 1963 into 1964, 
MLW cranked up RS-11 production. In 
all, two groups ofRS-lls were co11Sti-uct­
ed for deM, totaling an impressive 75 
locomotives, with road numbers 7219-
7293. These were MLW's only RS-lls. 
This closed out new RS-11 acquisitions 
for Mexico; in all, 99 were built for three 
customers, more than 20 percent of total 
RS-11 production. Only Norfolk & West­
ern bested NdeM with RS-11 purchases, 
its total being 99 (not including Nickel 
Plate llllits); ' deM rostered 94. 

RSD-12s Up Next 
If NdeM found the RSD -5 wanting, 

those concerns were addressed with the 
introduction of the RSD-12, equipped 
with a 12-251B engine and GT-586 main 
generator. Serious roster additions began 
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in August 1958, although NdeM started 
down the t r ack to RSD-12 fame modest­
ly with just two, its 7400 and 7401 (the 
same quantity as its RSD-5s). 

Just a month after NdeM's first pair 
of RSD-12s, F CP added two to its roster 
(its first new units in nearly three years). 
They were delivered as FCP 1502- 1503. 
Pictures with those numbers are ap­
parently few. The locomotives had both 
dynamic brake and steam generator op­
tions. Due to the steam generator, the 
short hood was high. 

Although p late dates were out of order 
based on serial number, FCP HS04-U508 
began to show up in February 1959. They 
featw-ed the same options as the first 
two. In October 1959, 509--510 arrived, 
the eighth and ninth on the ever-e'-."J)and­
ing roster. 

NdeM RSD-12 acquisitions ramped 
up in 1959, bringing four more of the 
modern Alcos to the railroad. All were 
equipped with a steam generator and 
high short hood, cai.-rying numbers 7402-
7405; they arrived just two months af­
ter FCP 509-510. Keep in mind, NdeM 

RS-ls were still being deliver ed, even as 
those early RSD-12s a.t'l-ived. 

Throughout 1960, FCP 511-514 and 
NdeM 7406-7418 were delivered. All had 
dynamic brakes and high short hoods 
due to the steam generator. Curiously, 

BELOW RIGHT: After 16 RSD-12s with steam 
generators and high hoods, Alco delivered on 
order to FCP starting In February 1962 which 
Included four short hood units. Blue and yellow 
point hos replaced the orlglnol green and yellow, 
but the oppeallng design still posses the test of 
time. FCP 519 Is at Nogales, Sonora, December 
19, 1980. THOMAS H. otENOWrnt-Ln 

BELOW LEFT: RSD-12 7456 was another 1962 
delivery whose appearance hos been updated at 
least once. It reposes In Nuevo Loredo In the 
eastern state of Tomoullpos on October 30, 
1977. THOMAS H. CHENOWETH-Ln 

BOTTOM: In somber, yet dignified, as-delivered 
point, RSD-12s 7417 and 7410 dutifully stop 
In Muevo Loredo with Train 2. The doily service 
offered through sleepers from St. Louis to 
Mexico City. The locomotives ore not yet one 
year old In this Sunday, Morch 19, 1961, view. 
KENNETH L. OOUGLAS-Ln 

although the "billboard" deM paint 
scheme had been introduced, the early 
NdeM RSD-12s were delivered in a ver­
sion of the previous scheme; photos show 
a lack of lettering except the locomotive 
class "DE-24" 8tenciled on the cab side 
under the road number. 

In March 1961, NdeM RSD -12s 7419-
7423 shipped, then in April 7424-7440 
h eaded to Mexico. All lacked a steam 
generator but continued the dynamic 
brake option. Consequently , beginning 
with 7 419, a low short hood became the 
NdeM standard. 

The year 1962 was huge for Mexican 
RSD-12s. FCP 515--520 began delivery in 
February; 515-516 continued the dynam­
ic brake and steam generator tradition, 
but 517-520 debuted a low short hood as 
was deployed on 1961 NdeM deliveries 
that a lso lacked a steam generator. In 
August, NdeM 7441- 7472 shipped, thus 
filling out the RSD-12 rosters for both 
railroads. All told, the FCP roster con­
tained 19 units, while NdeM's blossomed 
to 73 units - in total, more than 50 per­
cent of all RSD -12 production. Size-wise, 
the NdeM fleet was second-to-none, the 

LEFT: Montreal Locomotive Works built just five 
RSD-35s for light branch line duty. MdeM 5903 
was at Aguascollentes on January 4, 1974. The 
RSD-35s weighed one ton more than EMD's 
G 12s, but offered 110 fewer horsepower. They 
were built with m.u.; the steam generator option 
Is evident In the short hood by the covered 
exhaust vent. PAUL HUNNEU.-Ln 

LEFT MIDDLE: Following 94 RS-11 s, NdeM 
returned to Alco for 45 C-424s, delivered In 
1964 and 1965. That quantity surpassed any 
sale to a slngle U.S. railroad. Conodlon Motional 
operated 41 , but Canadian Pacific outpaced 
NdeM with 51 total. In Mexico City, from the 
f irst group of C-424s, 8109 basks In worm sun 
on June 1, 1983. R.c. TINKHAM-Ln 

LEFT BOTTOM: Although best known for 
an abundant F-M Inhabitation, several Alcos 
populated the CHP roster for added Intrigue. 
Of four C-628s, 904 stood out for Its steam 
generator option. Note the tradit ional vent cover 
Just behind the cab. At La Junta, Chihuahua, 
In 1974, 904 shows off Its decidedly obvious 
aspect. JAMES C. HEROLD-Ln 

closest competitor being Pennsylvania 
Railroad with 25 RSD-12s. 

Ongoing RS-11 deliveries continued 
during the time frame when the next 
Alco/MLW variant arrived. NdeM stan­
dardized on the EMD Gl 2 for operations 
where lighter rail prevailed. In all, 90 
were acquired, in deliveries stretching 
from 1955 until late 1964. Late in that 
timetable, NdeM asked for five RSD-3~s, 
a 1,200-hp, si.x-a.-..:.le locomotive, also in­
tended for light-rail branch lines. They 
weighed in at 173,000 potmds (just over 
86.5 tons) and thus had a very light axle 
loading, and were equipped with steam 
generators; in contrast, even eai.·ly Alco 
end cab switchers were near or more 
t.han 100 tons in total weight_ MLW pro­
vided five such token locomotives in May 
1963, diminutive in stature and total 
number; they occupied the 5900- 5904 
series. 

Century Units 
With deliveries of RS-lls barely con~ 

eluded, in June 1964 NdeM accepted its 
first Alco Centw-y-series units. NdeM 
8100- 8106 were actually the second 
group of C-424s intending to wear those 
numbers. A financial snafu diverted the 
first group to the \Vabash, its B900-
B906 , built just three months earlier. 
The arrival of 8100-8106 (2nd) signaled 
the start of another solid Alco relation­
ship. 

In all, Mexican Alco Century purchases 
were almost equally divided between B-B 
and C-C llllits. NdeM's 45 burly C-424 
fleet constituted the largest agglomer­
ation; they were numbered 8100- 8144, 
with deliveries in June 1964 and Octobe1· 
1965. None had steam generators, but all 
were equipped with dynamic brakes. The 
only other Alco B-B Century pm-chase 
went to Secretaria de Comunicaciones 
y Transportes, two C-420s destined for 
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ABOVE: FCP 610 was significant on several 
fronts. It was the lost FCP C-628, It was the lost 
C-628 built, and It also hos the dubious honor 
of being the lost Alco Century-series locomotive 
built. We pay homage here ot Nogales on 
November 29, 1974. Ln 

RIGHT TOP: At Teplc, the capital of Nayarlt, 
southbound FCP Train 4, El Mexicali, makes a 
10-mlnute stop fo r passengers and head-e nd 
business. In o quasi-Southern Pacific point 
scheme, C-628s 605 and 603 hove the honor 
of piloting the dally train between Mexlcoll, 
BoJo Collfornlo, and Guodolo)oro, Jollsco, on 
Februory 23, 1974. MATTHEW J. HERSOH JR.-Ln 

RIGHT: What appears to be a tranquil scene 
at Sufroglo, Sinoloo, Is sudden ly overtake n by 
the Intrusion of M-636 652 and RSD -1 2 508 on 
Morch 15, 1975. The RSD-12 not only provides 
an additional 1,800 hp, but al so a steam 
generator. This Is FCP Train 3, El Mexicali, 
running from Guodalajaro to Mexlcall. 
JIM ALDRIOGE•Ln 

Fde!S numbered 7123-10 and 7123-11, 
then later FUS. They were probably best 
known (and photographed) with their lat­
er numbers, 510- 511. 

In total numbers, C-628 purchases 
exceeded C-424 units by just one, but 
were spread across three properties. 
First across the border were si.x for FCP, 
its 601-606 with builder dates of April 
1966. In December 1966, a four-unit or­
der arrived for CHP. They were more 
or less "standard," but of the 901- 904 
group, C-628 904 carried a decidedly 
non-standard steam generator. Ample 
room behind the cab (as intended by Alco) 
negated the need for the front short-hood 
to be tall. 

As you might eiq,ect, N deM took the 
bulk of the C-628 ,m.its, with purchases 
spread over two years, in December 1966 
and February 1968. The 32 locomotives 
wore road numbers 8300-8331; many 
were later upgi·aded to C-630 equiva­
lents. The final group of 10 for NdeM, 
numbers 8322-8331 , bore steam gener­
ators. 

Following the NdeM deliveries, four 
more arrived for FCP; these were 607-
610, built in December 1968. With per­
fect hindsight, this set revealed itself to 
be the last C-628s built_ Centlll'y-628 pro­
duction lasted for five years, beginning 
with Atlantic Coast Line 2000; 186 were 
built for U.S., Mexican, and Australian 
service. Indeed, FCP 610 proved to be the 
last Century-series locomotive built. FCP 
606 is preserved and displayed in Meri­
da, Yucatan. 
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You would be excused if you missed 
the only T-6 units built for a Mexican 
property dlll'lllg the period when RS-lls, 
C-424s, and C-420s were crossing the 
border. [n December 1964, about four 
years after Altos Harnos de Mexico pur­
chased its last S-4, the steelmaker bought 
state-of-the-art T-6s for its Monterrey op­
eration. They wore numbers 126-127 and 
essentially worked in obscurity. 

Alco Gone, But MLW Continues 
American Locomotive Company's exit 

from the locomotive production business 
did not terminate either FCP or NdeM 
interest in the locomotive line. Three 
years after Alco ceased domestic produc­
tion, both FCP and NdeM ei.'tended pur­
chase orders to MLW for new units. 

In June 1972, 20 M-630s for NdeM, 
8600-8619, and eight M-636s for FCP, 
651-6.'58, began to arrive. The NdeM or­
der satiated its need for the 3,000-hp lo­
comotive, but FCP returned to ML \V in 
1973 for eigh t additional M-636 ,wits. 
Those second M-636s had road numbers 
659-666. 

FC P was looking for a lower-horsepower 

locomotive in 1975. The MLW solution 
brought another new model to both Mex­
ico and FCP in the form of the M-420TR. 
ML\V had built two somewhat similar 
(not identical) locomotives for Canada's 
Roberval & Saguenay, but there were no 
other takers. 

In Canada, MLW was simultaneously 
building M-420W locomotives for Cana­
dian National and British Columbia Rail­
way, eventually achieving a total of 100 
tm.its when BCR's eight cabless M-420Bs 
were considered. FCP's choice went 
against the grain regarding road switch­
er configuration, and 15 switcher-style 
M-420TR locomotives were the result. 
Adding to the intrigue, the cab end was 
designated as the "front," with control 
stand positioned accordingly. 

In July 1975, MLW began delivering 
FCP's M-420TR fleet, numbered 522-
536, just above the quirky SLP-3 rebuild 
from NdeM, FCP 521. They arrived in 
blue and pale yellow paint. In applica­
tion, they worked with almost every type 
ofFCP motive power and we1·e frequently 
seen powering passenger trains. 

Allegiance to the brand continued 

after ML\V was sold to Bombardier. Lo­
comotive sales in the early 1980s were 
depressed due to the recession. Still, 
Bombardier landed its most s ignifi­
cant locomotive order, large even when 
compared to the MLW era. That sale 
brought another new model to Mexico, 
the M-424W, for NdeM, FCP, FUS, and 
SBC, with a grand total of 72 units. 

Deliveries of the new model com­
menced in July 1980. In all, FCP took 16, 
numbered 560-575; deM signed up for 
52, but eventually the single-tm.it SBC 
order was diverted to NdeM, bringing 

the total to 53, numbered 9500-9552; 
FUS 525-527, delivered in August 1981, 
rounded out the model's production, and 
Mexico's affair with Alco and its succes­
sors' new-locomotive production. 

Bombardier had promised and made 
significant improvements with its new 
HR line of locomotives (stressing, as the 
name implies, "High Reliability"), but the 
economics of the time also worked against 
additional new Alco variant s being added 
to the various rosters. An unanticipated 
headwind was the availability of second­
hand Alco or MLW locomotives, when 

relatively modern models were purged 
from American and Canadian railroads 
and could be acquired for very reason­
able cost. 

Secondhand purchases will be the ba­
sis of another discussion, however. CJ 

GORDON LLOYD JR. is retired from the 
mechanical, transportat ion, and asset 
management departments of Union Rail­
road, Bessemer & Lake Erie, and Cana­
dian National. After nearly 38 years, he 
retired from Union Railroad in 2014, 
where it all began. 

LEFT: Three M-636 units, led by 655 from the 
first order, hustle Train 52 near GuodoloJoro 
on March 11 , 1976. Individual car weight 
ond overall train tonnage caused RSD-5s to 
be shouldered aside In favor of larger, higher. 
horsepower options, lncludlng 16 M.636 units. 
JAMES C. HEROU>-Ln 

BELOW LEFT: A spotless FCP M-424W 567 was 
at East St. Louis, Ill., on July 13, 1981. This was 
one of 16 built for FCP, the final order of Alco­
designed motive power. In spite of the huge 72-
unlt order for M-4242Ws, Bombardier would 
soon bow out of the business. MICHAEL._ W1SE•Ln 

BELOW: Fresh out of the box from Bombardier, 
NdeM M-424W 9525 Is en route to Mexico from 
Montreal, sitting In Chicago on Morch 15, 1981 . 
The 9525, one of 72 built by Bombardier for 
four Mexican customers, features o safety cob 
and dynamic brakes. JAM.ES CWUN-Ln 

BOTTOM: The Intended purpose of the 
M-420TR was apparently utllitorlon, while 
the Delowore & Hudson PA-1 Is o streamlined 
classic. Either design would be at home 
powering the FCP passenger train seen here at 
Empalme on Morch 11 , 1980. JAMES c. HEROl.D-Ln 
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